
 

 
 

EDUCATION CONSULTATIVE 
FORUM  

 

TUESDAY 30 JANUARY 2007 
7.30 PM  

 

COMMITTEE AGENDA (ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE) 
 

COMMITTEE ROOMS 1&2    
HARROW CIVIC CENTRE 

 
PRE-MEETINGS: HTCC  6.45 PM - COMMITTEE ROOM 6, GOVERNORS  6.45 PM - 

COMMITTEE ROOM 3, MEMBERS  7.00 PM - COMMITTEE ROOMS 1/2 
 

 

 
Issued by the Democratic Services Section, 

Legal Services Department  
 

Contact:  Sara Mirza, Committee Administrator 
Tel:  020 8424 1323    E-mail:  sara.mirza@harrow.gov.uk 

 
  MEMBERSHIP    (Quorum 3 representatives of each side)  
    
 
  Chairman: 

 
Councillor Miss Christine Bednell  
  

 
Councillors: 

 
Mrs Camilla Bath 
Manji Kara 
Janet Mote 
 

B E Gate 
Raj Ray 
Bill Stephenson 
 

  
 

   
1. Julia Merison 
2. Mrs Vina Mithani 
3. Jean Lammiman 
4. Salim Miah 
 

1. Keeki Thammaiah 
2. Nizam Ismail 
3. David Perry 
 

  
 

Teachers’ Constituency:  (nominated by Harrow Teachers’ Consultative Committee) 
 
Mr R Borman 
Ms C Gembala 
Ms J Lang (VC) 

 

Ms L Money 
Ms L Snowdon 
 

 (Vacancy) 
 

Governors’ Constituency:  (nominated by Association of Harrow Governing Bodies) 
 
Ms H Henshaw 
Mrs C Millard 
 

Mr N Rands 
Ms H Solanki 
 

(Vacancy) 
(Vacancy) 
 

Elected Parent Governors: 
 
1. Mr R Chauhan 2. Mrs D Speel 

c 
Denominational Representatives:   
 
1. Mrs J Rammelt 2. Reverend P Reece  

 



 

 

 
  HARROW COUNCIL 

 
EDUCATION CONSULTATIVE FORUM  
 
TUESDAY 30 JANUARY 2007 
 

 
 

  AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. Attendance by Reserve Members:    
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve 

Members. 
 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the 

meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that 

the Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives 

after the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member 
can only act as a Member from the start of the next item of business 
on the agenda after his/her arrival. 

 
2. Apologies for Absence:    
 To receive apologies for absence (if any). 

 
3. Declarations of Interest:    
 To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from 

business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee, Sub Committee, Panel or Forum; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
 

4. Arrangement of Agenda:    
 To consider whether any of the items listed on the agenda should be 

considered with the press and public excluded on the grounds that it is 
thought likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, that 
there would be disclosure of confidential information in breach of an 
obligation of confidence or of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 
 

5. Minutes:    
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2006 be taken as read 

and signed as a correct record. 
  
[Note: The 21 September 2006 minutes are published on the Council's 
intranet and website]. 
 

6. Matters Arising:    
 To consider any matters arising from the last meeting. 

 



 

 

7. Public Questions:    
 To receive questions (if any) from local residents or organisations under the 

provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 15 
(Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

8. Petitions:    
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors 

under the provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure 
Rule 13 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

9. Deputations:    
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Advisory Panel and 

Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 14 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

10. Draft Budget for Consultation:  (Pages 1 - 54) Encs. 
 Report of the Director of Financial and Business Strategy. 

 
11. School Term Dates 2008-09:  (Pages 55 - 58) Enc. 
 Report of the Director of Strategic Services Department, People First. 

 
12. Date of Next Meeting:    
 To note that the next meeting of the Forum is due to be held on 21 March 

2007. 
 

  AGENDA - PART II - NIL   
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting: 
 

Education Consultative Forum 

Date: 
 

30 January 2007 

Subject: 
 

People First Budget  

Key Decision: No 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Myfanwy Barrett 
Director of Financial and Business Strategy 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

David Ashton 
Deputy Leader 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and Business Matters 
 

Exempt: 
 

No  
 

Enclosures: 
 

Briefing on the Draft Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10 
Report to Cabinet Meeting on 14 December 2007 
Revenue Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10 

 
 
SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
This report sets out the draft revenue medium term budget strategy (MTBS) for 
2007-08 to 2009-10. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
To forward any comments to Cabinet on the People First Budget agreed for 
consultation for 2007/2008, for consideration by the Cabinet and Council. 
 
REASON:   
To meet the budget timetable for consultation for Cabinet to 
recommend to Council a budget for 2007/2008. 
 
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 1 to 54

1



2

This page is intentionally left blank



Briefing on the Draft Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10 
 
Introduction 
 
1. There are two reports on the draft budget for 2007-08 to 2009-10 going to Cabinet on 14 

December – one covering the main revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA), and a second report covering the capital programme. 

 
2. The budgets have been developed in the context of: 
 

•  Vision for Harrow to 2020 
•  Corporate priorities 
•  Recent High Level Service Planning exercise 
•  Financial position of the Council 
•  Harrow as a low spending Council with low grant levels 

 
3. The five strategic savings projects that were conducted over the summer have provided 

substantial and detailed information to support financial and service planning and the 
findings are reflected in the draft budgets.  The five strategic projects will be followed by: 

 
•  Review of organisational arrangements and the management structure 
•  Rolling programme of fundamental service reviews 

 
4. The reports set out robust and realistic budgets for 2007-08 to 2009-10.  There are 

significant savings to be achieved in all Directorates but these are fully itemised and will be 
closely monitored. 

 
Main Revenue Budget 
 
5. Council Tax Strategy: the proposed council tax increases are 4.9% in 2007-08, 3% in 2008-

09, and zero in 2009-10. 
 
6. The current main revenue budget is £510m, but only £117m is controllable.  (This is 

because schools and benefits are ring-fenced and there are other fixed costs.) 
 
7. In common with most other authorities, Harrow Council is facing significant unavoidable 

pressure from inflation (including pay, pensions, and other price increases such as 
concessionary fares), demand for social care, actions of PCT, and changes to government 
policy (land charges).  These unavoidable pressures amount to £10m. 

 
8. Grant Settlement: Harrow is receiving the minimum grant increase of 2.7% or £1.6m next 

year. 
 
9. In October a funding gap of £18m in 2007-08 was identified.  This has now been closed by: 

•  Reviewing risks and technical assumptions (£3.5m) 
•  Changes to growth and savings identified by Directorates (£10m) 
•  Council Tax increase (£4.5m) 

 
10. Significant savings are expected from a review of the organisational arrangements and 

management structure (£2.3m) and detailed work will be done by February to support the 
savings figure.  This will be a short sharp review, implemented quickly. 

 

3



11. We still have a funding gap of £6.7m in 2008-09 and £7.5m in 2009-10.  The gaps in years 2 
and 3 will be closed by the fundamental service reviews. 

 
12. A detailed impact assessment has been carried out for each individual proposal.  In addition 

a risk assessment has been done on the budget. 
 
13. Reserves policy:  The minimum level of reserves required will stay at £3.5m.  The current 

level is £1.8m.  There will be an annual contribution to reserves of £1m.  Therefore, the 
agreed minimum level of reserves (£3.5m) will be achieved by end of 2008-09. Target level 
for reserves is £5-7m and this will be achieved over next 4-6 years.   

 
14. Schools budgets are now outside the Council’s direct control.  Schools budgets will increase 

by 6.8%. 
 
HRA 
 
15. Budget reflects the options appraisal and the requirement to achieve decent homes standard 

by 2010. 
 
16. Rent increases of 4.7% each year. 
 
Capital Programme 
 
17. Programme has been scaled down to £36m in 2007-08 (of which £7m relates to the housing 

stock) to reduce the need to borrow and take some of the pressure off the revenue budget. 
 
18. Programme covers BTP and other IT projects, improvements to schools and social care 

establishments, heritage projects, strategic developments and public realm improvements. 
 
Consultation arrangements 
 
19. There are various opportunities for stakeholders to comment on the budget including the 

Open Budget panel, public meetings, and other stakeholder meetings. 
 
20. There will be a special edition of Harrow People in January and information will be available 

on the internet.  There is a dedicated email address for responses. 
 
21. In addition there will be specific consultation on some of the individual proposals (eg, Fair 

Access to Care Criteria). 
 
Areas for further work and timetable for final decisions 
 
22. It is critical that Council starts work on the organisational structure and the fundamental 

service reviews now to ensure the savings for 2007-08 are achieved and the funding gap in 
2008-09 and 2009-10 is closed. 

 
23. The final budgets, council tax and rents will be decided by full Council in February. 
 
 

4



 

 1

 
Meeting: 
 

Cabinet 

Date: 
 

14 December 2006 

Subject: 
 

Revenue Budget 2007-08 to 2009-10 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Myfanwy Barrett 
Director of Financial and Business Strategy 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

David Ashton 
Deputy Leader 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and Business Matters 
 

Exempt: 
 

No  
 

Enclosures: 
 

None  

 
 
SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
This report sets out the draft revenue medium term budget strategy (MTBS) for 
2007-08 to 2009-10. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
The Cabinet is requested to: 
 

1. Agree the draft revenue budget of £155.074m for 2007-08 and the draft 
MTBS for consultation with stakeholders 

2. In addition to the general consultation with stakeholders, instruct officers 
to commence specific consultation on the following proposals as detailed 
in the report: 

•  Access to Care Eligibility Criteria 

•  Day care charging 

5



 

 2

3. Agree that officers are authorised to initiate and conduct such other 
consultations as may be required to support the proposals identified in 
this report.  The outcome of consultations will be reported to Cabinet so 
that decisions can be made on those proposals. 

4. Note the target level of reserves and the strategy for reaching this level. 
5. Approve the draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for 2007-08 to 2009-

10, and refer the draft HRA to the Tenants and Leaseholders Consultative 
Forum on 8 January. 

 
REASON:  To publish the draft budget. 
 
 
SECTION 2 - REPORT 
 
1. The new MTBS is being set in the context of the agreed vision for Harrow and 

the Council’s corporate priorities. 
 
2. Harrow will be a place which offers the best of capital and country and is 

loved by its residents.  Harrow will be a desirable place to live, learn, work 
and play. 

 
3. Specifically, it will: 

 
•  Celebrate what we have in common and capitalise on our diversity 
•  Be an example to the rest of London of how communities from different 

backgrounds can form a cohesive society; 
•  Have the lowest crime and fear of crime in London 
•  Be a place where people are healthy and stay healthy 
•  Have reduced health inequalities between wards and communities by 

levelling up health outcomes; 
•  Have reduced the pockets of deprivation that affect parts of our borough to 

increase social inclusion; 
•  Be recognised as a leader in the race to reduce carbon emissions through 

technological innovation and community action; 
•  Have a choice of housing in distinctive neighbourhoods 
•  Be entrepreneurial and an ideal place to set up high skills businesses 
•  Be a place where children and young people are healthy and safe, fulfil 

their potential and help other people 
•  Have vibrant neighbourhood centres and the Premier Town Centre in 

North-West London 
•  Be family friendly and promote older people’s independence  
•  Be easy to get around for everyone and offer the best commuter 

experience by public transport in the South East and 
•  Protect its green spaces. 

 
4. The administration set the following corporate priorities in its three year 

Corporate Plan adopted by Cabinet in June 2006: 
•  Making Harrow safe, sound and supportive 

6



 

 3

•  Getting Harrow moving 
•  Protecting our precious environment 
•  Tackling waste and giving real value for money 
•  Empowering Harrow youth 
•  Giving more choice in sport, leisure and amenities 

 
5. The revenue budget proposals have been derived from the recent High Level 

Service Planning process. 
 
6. The new MTBS is being set in the context of Harrow’s current financial 

challenges, spending and performance characteristics and tax levels. 
 
7. The Council is a large and complex organisation which spends around £600m 

a year.  Each year the Council sets a budget for its revenue account, housing 
account and capital programme.  This budget shows how much the Council 
intends to spend and how it will be funded.  The main funding sources are 
government grants, fees and charges, council tax, and investment income.  
Capital expenditure is also funded in part by long term borrowing. 

 
8. This report covers both the main revenue account and the Housing Revenue 

Account.  There is a separate report dealing with the capital programme for 
2007-08 to 2009-10. 

 
Current Spending Levels and Funding 
 
9. In the current financial year the Council is planning to spend £510m on day to 

day service delivery, £23m on managing and maintaining it’s housing stock, 
and £86m on capital projects (including projects carried forward from last 
year). 

 
10. The revenue spending of £510m can be analysed as follows: 
 

Gross Revenue Expenditure 
 

£m %

Schools 137 27
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 95 19
People First 146 29
Urban Living 90 18
Corporate 42 7
Total  510  100
 

7



 

 4

 
11. This is funded as follows: 

 
Gross Funding 
 

£m %

Dedicated Schools Grant 119 23
Housing/Council Tax Benefit Grant 95 19
Other specific grants 25 5
Formula Grant 59 11
Fees and charges 58 11
Other sources (interest and recharges) 64 13
Council Tax 90 18
Total  510 100
 

12. Both the dedicated schools grant and benefits grant are ring-fenced and 
therefore outside the Council’s direct control.  The figures above also include 
levies, concessionary fares, support services and capital financing costs 
which further reduce the controllable figure to £117m.  A schedule is attached 
at Appendix A which demonstrates this. 

 
13. In broad terms, revenue spending can fluctuate quite substantially during the 

year but the funding sources are largely fixed. 
 
14. During the year the Council monitors its spending to try and ensure that it 

lives within its budget.  If there are pressures in one area, the Council seeks 
to make reductions elsewhere to compensate.  However, the Council provides 
a very wide range of services, many of which are essential, and numerous 
factors influence spending. Often these factors are outside the Council’s 
direct control.   

 
15. If the Council spends less than it planned to in the year, the surplus is added 

to balances (also known as reserves).  If the Council spends more than it 
planned to, the difference has to be taken from its balances. 

 
16. For Harrow, because its balances are now very low, effective budget 

management during the year is absolutely vital. 
 
Financial Position 
 
17. For a variety of reasons, the Council is facing considerable financial 

challenges. This situation has developed over the last 3 years or so. These 
reasons include 

•  economic drivers (interest rates, property market etc) 
•  poor government settlement and reductions in specific grants 
•  additional demands from central government 
•  growing demand for services (especially social care) 
•  actions of the Harrow Primary Care Trust (PCT) 
•  over optimistic income projections 
•  the level of capital investment 

8



 

 5

•  failure to achieve planned savings 
 
18. Some of these factors are external and some are internal.  Essentially, in 

2004-05 and 2005-06 the Council was seeking to increase investment in 
some services and to pay for this through new income streams and 
efficiencies.  However, whilst the investment went ahead, the extra income 
and efficiencies did not fully materialise.  In particular there was a shortfall on 
procurement savings – this shortfall was £3m in 2005-06.  Therefore the 
Council ended up in a position where its spending plans were outstripping 
resources. 

 
19. This position was compounded by various other factors that all came to a 

head in 2005-06.  For example: 
•  Interest income and land charges income fell short of the budget by 

£0.8m in total 
•  Demand for social care (including asylum seekers) increased and 

significant costs transferred to the Council from the PCT, with a 
combined impact of £1m 

•  The Council did not receive any funding through the local authority 
business growth incentive (LABGI) and this was not announced until 
February 2006. 

 
20. Some of these pressures were offset by rate rebates.  Nevertheless these 

factors meant that there was a net overspend in the order of £3m in 2005-06.  
In addition the Council had to make provisions for bad debts and litigation. 
Hence,  reserves were reduced to £1.8m, compared to the minimum of £3.5m 
agreed by Council in February 2006. 

 
21. The potential overspend in 2005-06 was identified very early in the year and 

management action was taken throughout the year to contain the position as 
far as possible.  There were regular reports to CMT and Cabinet explaining 
the position and the action being taken.  The External Auditor has agreed that 
this action was adequate in the circumstances. 

 
22. The factors outlined above also contributed to a very challenging budget 

process to arrive at the 2006-07 budget and council tax in February 2006.  
Many of the issues were addressed in the budget setting process (for 
example, there was growth in the social care budget in some areas, and the 
procurement savings target, investment income target and LABGI target were 
all reduced). However, £5m of planned savings were unallocated. 

 
23. A great deal of work went into the 2006-07 budget to try and address the 

issues that had arisen during 2005-06 and most of them were resolved.  
There were savings included in the final budget of £15m of which £10m was 
itemised. As indicated above, £5m was planned but unallocated. 

 
24. The report to Cabinet on 29 June explained that in total the Council in fact 

needed to save £19m in 2006-07. This was made up as follows: 
•  Allocated savings, £10m 

9



 

 6

•  Planned but unallocated savings £5m (being £3m Business 
Transformation Partnership (BTP) and £2m corporate procurement) 

•  Additional risks and pressures, which emerged after the budget was 
set in February, £4m 

 
25. The second cabinet report on the financial position on 3 August set out how 

the Council planned to save £9m (to deal with the unallocated savings and 
new risks and pressures).  This savings plan was essential to ensure that the 
Council lived within its budget in 2006-07, particularly critical given that 
reserves were so low. 

 
26. The Savings Plan included a variety of measures such as: 

•  Reduced subsidies and increased fees and charges 
•  BTP savings 
•  Reductions in staff costs 
•  Harrow Saves 
•  Items in each Directorate 

 
27. Details for these items were set out in the Cabinet report of 3 August. 
 
28. The 2006-07 savings plan is one step in a long process to put the Council on 

a firmer financial footing.  However, it was very significant step forward, as it 
will enable the Council to live within the 2006-07 budget. 

 
29. The process for this year also includes much enhanced monitoring 

arrangements (as per first and second quarter reports) including budget 
challenge sessions each month.  The second quarter budget monitoring 
report, also on the 14 December Cabinet agenda, shows that the savings plan 
is being implemented effectively by Directorates and that the forecast outturn 
is in line with the budget (although it may not be possible to make a 
contribution to reserves this year). 

 
30. At its meeting in August the Cabinet also agreed the timetable and process 

for developing the 2007-08 budget and the medium term financial strategy. 
 
2007-08 and beyond 
 
31. On 4 October the Cabinet received a report on the Medium Term Budget 

Strategy for 2007-08 to 2009-10.  The report set out the context for the next 
medium term budget strategy, the funding gap, some proposed budget 
principles, an update on five strategic savings projects, and the next steps. 

 
32. The five strategic savings projects were: 

•  Organisational Structure 
•  Land and Property 
•  Service Delivery 
•  Finance 
•  Value for Money (VFM) 

 

10



 

 7

33. At 4 October the funding gap identified was £18m in 2007-08, a further £13m 
in 2008-09 and a further £8m in 2009-10. 

 
34. For 2007-08 the funding gap has been closed.  However, there is still a gap of 

£6.7m in 2008-09 and £7.5m in 2009-10. 
 
35. Within the 2007-08 budget there is £18m of upward pressure, much of which 

is unavoidable cost increases.  This pressure is mitigated by £12m of new 
income and savings, £1.5m of additional grant, and £4.5m from the proposed 
council tax increase. 

 
36. A significant part of the funding gap derives from new and unavoidable 

pressures that are outside the Council’s direct control.  In total, the following 
items are generating £10m of pressure: 

 
•  anticipated pay award and increase in pension contributions 
•  general inflation using the consolidated price index (CPI) 
•  extra inflation for concessionary fares, the West London Waste Authority 

levy, and utility prices 
•  reduction in income from land charges 
•  the actions of the PCT 
•  demand for social care (net of measures to contain the cost per client) 

 
37. There are also pressures amounting to £8m created by: 

•  The procurement savings target that was not achieved 
•  Capital financing costs 
•  The need to build up reserves 
 

38. In total these pressures amount to £18m. It is clear that, given the low level of 
government support, the Council does not have the resources to deal with the 
unavoidable pressures that it is facing.  This is a national issue for local 
government and is not specific to Harrow. 

 
Balance between service delivery and council tax levels 
 
39. Harrow has very low grant levels and, despite low spending, the council tax is 

still quite high.  The reasons for low grant levels are explained in detail later in 
this report. 

 
40. The medium term planning round presents considerable challenges.  Given 

that Harrow is already spending at relatively low levels, and that much of the 
budget is outside the Council’s direct control, it is very challenging to find 
further reductions in spending in order to deliver low council tax increases, or 
hold council tax steady. 

 
41. Whilst the Council is seeking to improve efficiency in all areas, for instance by 

implementing new computer systems, many reductions in spending have a 
direct impact on service levels. 

 

11



 

 8

42. The Council has a range of statutory duties and must provide an adequate 
level of service to vulnerable people, whilst also maintaining the universal 
services which are highly valued by the public. 

 
The Five Strategic Projects 
 
43. The draft MTBS reflects the findings from the five strategic projects which 

have been carried out this year. 
 
44. The organisational structure review covered the senior structure, 

administrative support, use of agency staff, controls over overtime, and 
opportunities to work more efficiently.  Savings on administrative and agency 
staff are reflected in the detailed Directorate budgets.  In addition the MTBS 
includes a £2.3m saving from a comprehensive management structure 
review.  The detailed work behind this is an ongoing exercise. It is a critical 
exercise.  Detailed proposals will be drawn up before the budget is finalised in 
February. 

 
45. The objectives of the land and property review were to: 
 

•  Establish a clear relationship between service priorities and property 
management 

•  Rationalise the portfolio 
•  Reduce annual running costs 
•  Generate capital receipts to deal with backlog maintenance and provide 

funds for future investment 
 

46. Alongside the implementation of the new real estate system (SAP), and the 
development of the Asset Management Plan, a comprehensive database of 
the Council’s property has now been developed.  This is already producing 
benefits and will support much more effective decision making in future. 

 
47. As part of the review, a detailed forecast for disposals has been compiled and 

this is reflected in the capital programme report elsewhere on the agenda.  A 
review of the Council’s commercial portfolio is planned and this may generate 
further receipts. 

 
48. The revenue budget reflects the savings from terminating leases for office 

accommodation and moving staff back to the Civic Centre site.  This has 
required some capital spend on the Civic Centre to achieve the revenue 
savings. 

 
49. The service delivery review was designed to map and review the Council’s 

services, looking at 
 

•  the level of spend 
•  the split between statutory and discretionary provision 
•  the level of provision 

12



 

 9

•  the extent to which services have been subject to challenge either through 
procurement or benchmarking 

•  the impact of any changes to or reductions in service 
 
50. The exercise is complete.  Where services were found to be discretionary or 

where there was scope to reduce the level of provision, this has been taken 
into account in the budget planning process. 

 
51. The value for money review was launched in March and had three key 

objectives: 
 

•  Develop a new value for money framework for the Council 
•  Compare and benchmark Harrow’s cost and performance position against 

three comparator groups 
•  Agree a set of value for money indicators to monitor and challenge 

performance going forwards. 
 

52. The value for money review is complete and very detailed information about 
cost and performance of all services is now available.  The VFM implications 
of the individual budget proposals have been considered. 

 
53. The service review alongside the VFM project provided detailed information 

that Councillors will need to make decisions about service strategies in the 
medium term and identify areas where services can be scaled back. 

 
54. The finance review covered fees and charges, support charges, zero based 

budgeting, the capital/revenue split, optimal use of grants and concessionary 
fares: 

 
•  The MTBS includes increases in home care charges (subject to the 

outcome of statutory consultation) and the introduction of new charges 
such as pre-planning advice - there is limited additional scope around fees 
and charges. 

•  The new support charges system will be implemented with effect from 1 
April 2007. 

•  There is potential for a rolling programme of zero based budget reviews 
commencing next financial year. 

•  The review suggests that the Council is capitalising the right amount of 
expenditure and using grants optimally 

•  Concessionary fares is the area with the most potential to save money in 
the medium term and a project team has been set up to take this forward.   
However, Cabinet members have indicated that they regard the Freedom 
Pass as a critical right for those who are eligible. 

 
55. As a result of the five strategic projects, the Council has identified that there 

are five distinct business areas for the Council going forward: 
•  strategic core - financial strategy, policy and performance, partnerships 

HR strategy and policy,  commissioning, legal.  

13



 

 10

•  Back office and transactional services - administration, information 
processing, benefits, operational HR/finance/legal/ICT.  These services 
will always be needed and could be provided internally, outsourced or 
provided via shared services.  There is considerable scope for efficiencies, 
but this should be further reviewed after the shape of frontline services is 
clear. 

•  Schools - increasingly beyond the Council’s direct control 
•  Social care for adults (including housing) and children - increasingly to be 

provided through integration with public service partners. There is scope 
for efficiency through integration.  Many of the services are statutorily 
defined. At the same time, partners such as the Harrow PCT are suffering 
very severe financial constraints. 

•  Community services - environment, community safety, transport, 
highways, parks, culture.  These services are used by many/most of 
community but less defined by statute.  This is the primary area of focus of 
investment over the next few years. 

 
Establishing a rolling programme of fundamental service reviews 
 
56. The five strategic projects enabled the Council to develop a far better 

understanding of its services, value for money profile and asset base, and 
obtain the information required to make decisions about services for the 
future. 

 
57. The projects made it clear that very little that the Council does is really 

optional.  The only truly discretionary services are: 
•  Arts, culture, sport and leisure 
•  Business engagement 
•  Some services provided to support schools 

 
58. Therefore, the Council really needs to focus on: 

•  The level of provision 
•  The scope to reconfigure the Council and bring services together to 

generate efficiencies 
•  The scope to make back office functions more efficient 
•  The scope to use new technologies to drive efficiency 
•  The method of service delivery – for example should some services be 

outsourced? 
 

59. The performance of different services is critical in determining budget 
priorities.  There were significant improvements in each service area in 2005-
06.  All services offer average or above average value for money compared to 
other London Boroughs 

•  Education, and benefits perform strongly. 
•  Adult and children’s social care, culture and housing face improvement 

challenges 
•  Environmental services have improved significantly and current service 

performance is mixed. This area is a key priority going forward. 
  

14



 

 11

60. The Corporate Assessment and Joint Area Review were carried out recently 
and the findings from these and other inspections will also inform future 
decisions about services. 

 
61. The West London Alliance is currently conducting a review of the scope for 

shared services which will also be a key issue in future. 
 
62. Now that all the groundwork has been completed, it is important that the 

Council establishes a programme of reviews to take a fundamental look at 
services.   The proposed reviews for the three year planning period are: 

 
2007-08 •  Children’s health and social care 

•  Arts, culture, sport and leisure 
•  Public Realm Services 
 

2008-09 •  Adults’ health and social care 
•  Planning and Development 
•  Information and Communication Technology for front 

line staff 
•  Visiting teams 
 

2009-10 •  Support services 
 

 
63. There are a number of options for the approach to these fundamental service 

reviews.  These will be explored further and include using the service 
managers, using a corporate team, seeking external support, using inspection 
findings, or using scrutiny. 

 
64. Each review will be established in line with the Council’s project management 

methodology and a savings target will be agreed for each one.  The 
governance arrangements for the projects will also include regular reports to 
Cabinet in its capacity as the Council’s performance board. 

 
65. Provisional savings targets will be developed for each project and built into 

the MTBS 2008-09 and 2009-10 before the budget is finalised in February.  
 
Corporate Plan and Detailed Service Planning 
 
66. The new Community Plan, which incorporates the Vision for 2020, has been 

agreed by the Harrow Strategic Partnership.  This provides the context for the 
Council’s new corporate plan for 2007-08 to 2009-10. 

 
67. Following the High Level Service Planning process, each Directorate is now 

developing a more detailed service plan for the three year period. 

15



 

 12

 
The Business Transformation Partnership 
 
68. The Council’s Business Transformation Partnership with Capita was agreed in 

September 2005 and the contract commenced on 1 October 2005.  The 
budget reflects the implications of that contract and this section of the report 
explains what the Council is getting for its money and the savings that are 
anticipated as a result. 

 
69. The current contract includes three initial projects and has a total value over 

10 years of £45m. This is split £44m payments to Capita and £1m Council 
implementation costs. 

 
70. The expenditure under the contract is split between capital (£23m) and 

revenue costs (£16m) as some relate to the acquisition and implementation of 
new systems (capital) and some relate to delivery of the IT support service 
and the partnership itself (revenue).  In addition there is £5m of Capita’s profit 
at risk which is also a capital payment. 

 
71. The capital costs include such things as: 
 

•  Building of the One Stop Shop and Contact Centre 
 

•  SAP and other licences  
 

•  IT equipment including system refresh and off site disaster recovery 
 

•  A publicity campaign for channel migration  
 

•  Consultancy costs including significant business process re-engineering 
and change management work. 

 
72. These payments are made on the basis of signed off milestones achieved. 
 
73. The revenue costs cover such things as: 
 

•  10 years support and maintenance for all systems, both payments to 
software suppliers and the provision of a dedicated support team on-site 

 
•  Management of Access Harrow to ensure effective service delivery for the 

first 3 years  
 
74. These are paid over the course of the next 9 years on a monthly basis. 
 
75. The profit at risk of £5m is paid to Capita as and when the anticipated savings 

of £45m are delivered, at the rate of £111k per £1m of savings.  This money 
is only released as and when savings are signed off.   

 

16



 

 13

76. It must be stressed that although the contract negotiated by the Council 
includes a mechanism for linking project benefits to payments made, this is an 
innovative approach designed to provide an incentive to realise benefits.  
Under a less innovative approach the Council would simply have paid £44m 
for the goods and services and had to identify and deliver the savings itself 
with no recourse to the supplier.  Whatever the ultimate value of savings 
delivered, the Council will have received £44m of goods and services 
procured through an extremely competitive process. 

 
77. The contract with Capita allows the Council to add further projects at a later 

date and the Council has commissioned some outline business cases for 
possible future projects, such as remote and mobile working.  When the 
contract was let it was suggested that the total value of the contract could be 
as much as £100m because this included both the first 3 projects which had 
been agreed and possible future projects. Nothing further is committed. 

 
78. The first three projects were: 

•  The new finance, HR, procurement and real estate system (SAP) 
which went live on 4 September 2006 

•  The new management information system (SAP) which went live on 
18th September 2006 

•  The development of Access Harrow – the new call centre and one stop 
shop – which went live on 22nd May 2006 and continues to be 
developed to incorporate additional services 

 
79.  These three projects have been extremely successful.  They have been 

implemented on time and within budget. 
 
80. The contract also includes “strategic sourcing” – this means that Capita and 

the Council work together to improve the Council’s purchasing arrangements 
and therefore improve efficiency.  This part of the project got off to a slow start 
but is now back on track and starting to deliver benefits. 

 
81. The contract was renegotiated in July/August this year to re-phase some of 

the payments and savings targets. The budget reflects the changes made at 
that time. 

 
82. The revenue expenditure built into the draft medium term budget is as follows: 
 

Financial Year  Revenue 
Expenditure

£000
2007-08 830
2008-09 2,018
2009-10 1,928

 
These figures exclude capital financing charges 
 

17



 

 14

83. The detailed budget schedules (Appendix D4) show year on year changes in 
expenditure and income levels rather than absolute figures for the years in 
question.  For instance between 2007-08 and 2008-09, the expenditure 
increases by £1,188k.  Not all of the expenditure is payments to Capita, there 
are also some Harrow costs contained above. 

 
84. The majority of the capital expenditure to buy the new systems was incurred 

in 2005-06 and 2006-07.  However, there is some capital expenditure shown 
in the capital programme for 2007-08 to 2009-10. 

 
85. As part of the contract, Capita calculated that savings of £45m could be 

achieved over the 10 year period and therefore cover the cost of the first three 
projects.  The revenue budget includes the following savings targets: 

 
 

Financial Year  Savings Target
£000

2007-08 3,338
2008-09 4,846
2009-10 5,418

 
86. Once a saving is achieved it is taken from the relevant budget and the BTP 

target is reduced accordingly. 
 
87. Savings are counted over the 10 year life of the contract.  Therefore, if a post 

is saved with a cost of £30k at the start of the 3rd year of the contract it counts 
as £240k (ie £30k for 8 years). 

 
88. The savings will come from the efficiencies arising from new systems (for 

instance less staff are required in finance and payroll due to some processes 
being automated), centralisation of the payments and income functions, 
centralisation of our customer facing services in Access Harrow, and better 
procurement. 

 
89. In 2006-07 the target is £1.3m.  Most of the savings identified are for half a 

year only as the systems did not go live until September.  Therefore, if Capita 
deliver £1.3m this year, there will be a full year effect in 2007-08 of £2.6m.  
This will leave Capita with a further £0.7m to find.  Assuming the 2007-08 
target is achieved, Capita will have to find a further £1.5m in 2008-09 and a 
further £0.6m in 2009-10. 

 
90. In the October cabinet report, a risk of £1.3m was identified in relation to 

delivery of the BTP savings next year.  However, as Capita are on track to 
meet this year’s target, the risk has now been deleted from the draft budget.  

 
91. When the budget is finalised in February, an itemised list of the BTP savings 

will be provided. 

18



 

 15

 
Adult Care - Eligibility Criteria 
 
92. The National Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) policy guidance was 

issued to local authorities by the Department of Health in May 2002.  It forms 
statutory guidance which social services authorities are obliged to take 
account of and implement at the local level. 

 
93. The guidance provided a common framework for all local authorities for 

determining their eligibility criteria for adult social care services.  Eligibility 
criteria determine who is eligible to receive social care services provided and 
funded by the local authority, regardless of the care-group category in which 
they may be placed.   

 
94. It was not the intention of Government to ensure that all local authorities set 

their eligibility threshold at exactly the same level, but all Local Authorities in 
determining their own criteria had to do so using the common set of standard 
criteria that were detailed in the guidance.   

 
95. The guidance made it clear that local authorities should set their own criteria 

to take account of local circumstances, and especially of the level of 
resources that the Council are able to commit to the provision of community 
care services at any particular time. 

 
96. The eligibility criteria are expressed in terms of a graded hierarchy of ‘threats 

to independence’ which following assessment may give rise to a ‘need’ for 
service provision and potentially translate into ‘care packages’.   

 
97. The guidance requires local authorities to:- 
 

•  determine their own eligibility threshold in the light of local resources; 
•  following appropriate consultation with a full range of stakeholders to 

review that threshold periodically in the light of experience and the 
changing resource position;  

•  ensure that the threshold criteria are clearly publicised in the form of 
information leaflets, web-site information, etc. so that local people know 
what level of needs the Council has agreed to respond to. 

 
98. The initial FACS threshold level for Harrow was set by the Council’s Cabinet 

on 15 April 2003 at a level which would “require the Council to provide 
services to those who are deemed to face ‘critical’ and ‘substantial’ threats to 
their independence”, and this applied from 7 April 2003. This decision was 
taken on the basis that it was felt that this level equated approximately to the 
eligibility criteria in use prior to that point.  

 
99. The following year, the Cabinet (16 March 2004) agreed to maintain the 

existing threshold at the same level for 2004-05. 
 

19



 

 16

100. Since then demand for services has increased substantially.  Client 
numbers have increased from 6472 to 7172, an increase of 10.8% from 2001-
02 to 2005-06.  In addition the complexity of the care required has increased.  
This increase in demand has been compounded by the transfer of clients from 
the PCT to the Council.  At the same time, due to poor government 
settlements in recent years, resources have decreased in real terms.  The 
combination of increased demand and complexity, and reduced resources, 
means there is significantly less resource available per client.  It is therefore 
essential that the Council reviews its policy under the Fair Access to Care 
regime. 

 
101. The Council is considering amending the policy to provide services only to 

those who are deemed to face critical threats to their independence with 
effect from 1 April 2007.  A change in policy will ensure that the Council’s 
limited resources are directed towards the most vulnerable members of the 
community.  This policy change is subject to statutory consultation. 

 
102. If the policy is not amended there will be additional pressure in social care 

of £2m. 
 
Day Care Charging 
 
103. As part of the budget setting process for 2006-07, the Council agreed to 

introduce charges for Day Centre services for adults.  The target was set to 
achieve additional income of around £300,000 on an annual basis. Members 
of the new administration were briefed in July and a framework was 
developed. 

 
104. The implementation was delayed because work commenced on the 

outline proposal to consider the revision of charges for Home Care and Meals 
on Wheels.  In the light of this, additional benchmarking information from 
other London Councils was gathered and further modeling work done. 

 
105. Harrow provides or purchase approximately 375 Day Centre placements 

per day across all Care Groups (Older People and adults with a Physical 
Disability, a Learning Disability and/or a Mental Health problem). 

 
106. Information on Day Care Charges has been gathered from 22 other 

London Boroughs and, of these, 13 Boroughs levy a charge for day care 
varying from £1.90 per day to £32.00 per day.  The proposed charge for 
Harrow is £12.00 per day. 

 
107. Harrow Council follows the Government’s Best Practice Guidance 

published in September 2003 entitled “Fairer Charging Policies for Home 
Care and other non-residential Social Services”. The Executive Summary in 
the Guidance states that Councils  ‘have discretion to decide to charge for 
non-residential services, to design reasonable and fair charging policies’.  

 
108. The Guidance also states that ability to pay should not be assessed for 

one charge in isolation and the impact of other charges should be taken into 

20



 

 17

account when assessing a user’s contribution. In Harrow a close partnership 
has been established with the Pensions Service and the Benefits Agency to 
ensure that all individuals financially assessed receive proper advice about 
benefits entitlements. 

 
109. Although there are a number of ways a Service User can be offered ‘Day 

Support’, such as Outreach or a Direct Payment, it is proposed that the 
charge would only apply to people attending a Day Centre. 

 
110. People who use a Day Centre to access another service such as their 

Community Psychiatric Nurse or an Occupational Therapy session will not be 
expected to pay an attendance charge. Any service users subject to the 
aftercare Section.117 of the Mental Health Act will not be charged. 

 
111. Officers recommend that the Charge should be levied by way of 

retrospective invoicing each month in the same way that other charges for 
Home Care are levied. 

 
112. There is currently no formal appeal mechanism or waiver scheme in place, 

therefore this is being developed in Income Assessment Services within the 
Business Services Department.  

 
113. It is proposed that a 3 month formal consultation takes place from January 

on the  following proposals: 
 

•  That Harrow introduces a flat rate charge for attendance at a Day Centre 
of £12.00 per day or £6.00 for a half day (up to 3 hours)  

 
•  That all clients will be offered a financial assessment and that those who 

also pay a charge for another service such as Home Care will have other 
charges taken into account when determining whether they also pay for 
attending a day centre. 

 
•  Individuals will continue to be referred to the Benefits Agency and/or 

Pensions Services for advice on benefits and pension entitlements at the 
point of being financially assessed as needed. 

 
•  That a charge is levied for some circumstances of non-attendance at the 

rate of 25% of the full charge  
 

114. Feedback from users, carers and other stakeholders from the 
consultations will be collated and analysed and reported back to Cabinet in 
April 2007. 

 
115. The 2006-07 income target has not been achieved due to the delays in 

implementation and this is reflected in the second quarter budget monitoring 
report. 

 

21



 

 18

Revenue Budget (excluding HRA) 
 
116. Appendix B provides some commentary on the assumptions and issues 

contained within the draft revenue budget. 
 
117. Appendix C provides a summary of the figures and the resulting council 

tax increases of 4.9% in 2007-08, 3% in 2008-09, and nil in 2009-10.  
  
118. The detailed schedules attached at Appendix D set out all the proposals 

included in the draft budget.  The items agreed in August this year as part of 
the savings plan for 2006-07 are indicated. 

 
119. For each savings proposal an impact assessment has been performed 

which covers: 
•  Impact on the service and customers 
•  Risks associated with implementation 
•  Impact on staffing levels 
•  Impact on equalities 
•  Findings from service delivery and VFM reviews 
•  Impact on performance indicators 
•  Impact on corporate priorities and manifesto pledges 
•  Need for consultation (statutory or informal) 

 
120.  The report to cabinet on 4 October on the MTBS identified a funding gap 

of £18m next year, £13m in 2008-09 and £8m in 2009-10.  The attached 
schedules show a remaining funding gap of £6.7m in 2008-09 and £7.5m in 
2009-10.  There is now no funding gap in 2007-08.  The movement is 
analysed below:  

 
Funding Gap 
 

2007-08
£m

2008-09 
£m 

2009-10
£m

Report to Cabinet on 4 October 18.0 12.8 7.7
Technical changes (including PFI, land 
charges, and Planning Dev. Grant) 

0.4  -0.5

Inflation changes 0.0 0.8 0.8
Reinstatement of savings 2.7 0.1 
Tax base -1.4 -0.4 
Review of risks -2.3  
Change to net growth and savings in 
Directorates 

-8.3 -1.2 -0.3

Capital financing costs -0.6 1.8
BTP savings -1.3  
Reduce contributions to provisions and 
take out contingency 

-1.3  

Delete provision for new growth -2.0 -2.0 -2.0
Sub Total 4.5 9.5 7.5
Impact of Council Tax at 4.9%, 3%, 0% -4.5 -2.8 0.0
Revised Funding Gap 0 6.7 7.5

 

22



 

 19

 
121. Whilst the funding gap has been closed for 2007-08 this is subject to the 

development of detailed plans for the new management structure to deliver 
the required savings.  Furthermore, there is still a significant funding gap for 
2008-09 and 2009-10.  It is the intention that the fundamental service reviews 
outlined above will deliver the savings required to close the funding gaps in 
years 2 and 3 of the plan. 

 
Settlement and Relative Grant Levels 
 
122. Appendix E gives information on the settlement for 2007-08.  It also 

explains the timetable for future settlements. 
 
123. Appendix F is a report on Harrow’s grant levels relative to other boroughs 

and the reasons for the differences. 
 
Schools Budget 
 
124. Appendix G contains details about the schools budget. 
 
Risks and Reserves 
 
125. Appendix H analyses the risks contained in the budget. 
 
126. Appendix I covers the reserves policy and strategy for reaching the target 

level of reserves. 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
127. The draft HRA for 2007-08 to 2009-10 is set out in Appendices J and K.   

The draft medium term HRA allows for additional capital expenditure to 
achieve the decent homes standard by 2010, partly financed through 
prudential borrowing.  The budget is consistent with the detailed options 
appraisal (stock retention option) carried out in 2005. 

 
128. A model has previously been agreed for rent increases which shows a 

4.73% increase in 2007-08 and each year thereafter. 
 
Consultation 

 
129. The proposed consultation arrangements are outlined in Appendix L. 
 
130. Specific consultation will be carried out on the following proposals: 
 

•  Fair Access to Care Eligibility Critieria 
•  Day Care Charging (agreed in principle as part of the 2006-07 budget) 

 
131. Cabinet is also being asked to authorise officers to initiate and conduct 

such other consultations as may be required to support the proposals 

23



 

 20

identified in this report.  The outcome of consultations will be reported to 
Cabinet so that decisions can be made on those proposals. 

 
Glossary 
 
132. There is a glossary of terms attached at Appendix M. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
133. The draft budget is £155.074m which results in a Band D council tax of 

£1,119.50. 
 
Reserve Powers to Limit Excessive Budget Requirements and Council Tax 
Increases 
 
134. The Secretary of State has made it clear that large council tax increases 

are not acceptable.  The indicative Council Tax increase for Harrow is below 
5% and as such the risk of capping is deemed to be low. 

 
GLA Precept 
 
135. Cabinet is asked to note that the draft budget excludes the impact of the 

Greater London Authority’s precept on any Council Tax increase.  This 
precept is recommended by the Mayor of London each year and approved by 
the London Assembly in February.  Draft proposals are due to be published 
on 14 December and will be reported at the meeting. 

 
136. Last year, as shown in the table below, the Harrow council tax increased 

by 2.49% and the precept increased by 13.35%, giving a combined tax 
increase of 4.62%. 

 
 2005-06

£
2006-07

£
Increase

%
Harrow services 1,041.28 1067.19 2.49
GLA Precept 254.62 288.61 13.35
Total 1,295.90 1,355.80 4.62
 

24



 

 21

 
Section 3: Supporting Information/Background Documents 
 
Appendices are attached as follows: 
 

In relation to the main revenue account: Page Number 
A Controllable budget 23 
B Commentary 25 
C Budget Summary 29 
D Budget Detail 30 
E Local Government Settlement 45 
F Grant Analysis 48 
G Schools Budget 53 
H Risk Assessment 55 
I Reserves Level 66 
Housing Revenue Account:  
J Commentary 69 
K Budget Summary 72 
Other Information  
L Consultation Arrangements 73 
M Glossary 75 

 
 
SECTION 3 - STATUTORY OFFICER CLEARANCE 
 
   
 Chief Finance Officer  Name: Myfanwy Barrett 
    

Date: 8 December 2006 
   
Monitoring Officer  Name: Hugh Peart 
   

Date: 8 December 2006 
 
 

25



 

 22

 
SECTION 4 - CONTACT DETAILS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 
Contact: Myfanwy Barrett 

Director of Financial and Business Strategy 
020 8420 9269 

 
Background Papers:   
 
 

•  Report to Cabinet in August on the timetable for the budget 
•  Report to Cabinet in October on the MTBS 

 
Any person wishing to inspect the background papers should 
telephone 020 8420 9269 

 
 
 
 
IF APPROPRIATE, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
 
1. Consultation  YES 

2. Corporate Priorities  YES 

3. Manifesto Pledge Reference Number NO 

 
 

26



 

 
23

 

A
PP

EN
D

IX
 A

 
C

O
N

TR
O

LL
A

B
LE

 B
U

D
G

ET
 2

00
6-

20
07

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Bu

s.
 D

ev
 

C
or

p 
C

ED
 

Pe
op

le
 F

irs
t 

U
rb

an
 L

iv
in

g 
To

ta
l 

 
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
20

06
-2

00
7 

O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t (

ne
t) 

(p
er

 b
ud

ge
t b

oo
k)

 
15

,5
76

 
4,

15
3 

1,
39

3 
10

8,
21

0 
55

,4
08

 
18

4,
74

0 
 

In
te

r d
ire

ct
or

at
e 

tra
ns

fe
rs

 
72

8 
0 

10
 

-2
52

 
-4

86
 

0 
 

Au
gu

st
 s

av
in

gs
 p

la
n 

(P
re

ss
ur

es
) 

3,
36

5 
3,

09
7 

60
 

1,
50

5 
0 

8,
02

7 
 

Au
gu

st
 s

av
in

gs
 p

la
n 

(S
av

in
gs

) 
-3

,9
60

 
-1

,2
07

 
-2

22
 

-1
,4

73
 

-1
,9

88
 

-8
,8

50
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
R

ev
is

ed
 B

ud
ge

t (
ne

t) 
15

,7
09

 
6,

04
3 

1,
24

1 
10

7,
99

0 
52

,9
34

 
18

3,
91

7 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 (s
ee

 b
el

ow
)  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Le

ss
: R

in
g 

fe
nc

ed
 

-8
58

 
0 

0 
0 

-1
22

 
-9

80
 

 
Le

ss
: I

te
m

s 
ou

ts
id

e 
co

nt
ro

l 
-3

,2
27

 
-2

,8
44

 
80

8 
-1

,7
03

 
-1

6,
33

0 
-2

3,
29

6 
 

Le
ss

: F
ix

ed
 c

os
ts

 
1,

79
4 

-8
55

 
69

6 
-3

5,
00

7 
-9

,7
23

 
-4

3,
09

5 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

C
on

tr
ol

la
bl

e 
B

ud
ge

t 
13

,4
18

 
2,

34
4 

2,
74

5 
71

,2
80

 
26

,7
59

 
11

6,
54

6 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
dj

us
tm

en
ts

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

R
in

g 
fe

nc
ed

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
1 

H
ou

si
ng

 B
en

ef
its

 
85

8 
0 

0 
0 

0 
85

8 
2 

H
ou

si
ng

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

12
2 

12
2 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

85
8 

0 
0 

0 
12

2 
98

0 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

27



 

 
24

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Bu
s.

 D
ev

 
C

or
p 

C
ED

 
Pe

op
le

 F
irs

t 
U

rb
an

 L
iv

in
g 

To
ta

l 
 

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
£0

00
 

£0
00

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Ite
m

s 
ou

ts
id

e 
co

nt
ro

l 
 

 
 

 
 

 
3 

Le
vi

es
 

1,
44

4 
0 

0 
0 

15
,2

90
 

16
,7

34
 

4 
In

su
ra

nc
e 

pr
em

iu
m

s 
85

5 
0 

0 
0 

0 
85

5 
5 

Au
di

t f
ee

s 
69

6 
0 

0 
0 

0 
69

6 
6 

La
nd

 C
ha

rg
es

 
0 

0 
-7

30
 

0 
0 

-7
30

 
7 

R
eg

is
tra

r o
f B

irt
hs

, D
ea

th
s 

an
d 

M
ar

ria
ge

s 
0 

0 
-1

39
 

0 
0 

-1
39

 
8 

C
or

po
ra

te
 &

 D
em

oc
ra

tic
 c

or
e 

co
st

s 
0 

2,
85

9 
0 

0 
0 

2,
85

9 
9 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Au
gm

en
ta

tio
n 

23
2 

3,
00

2 
61

 
0 

0 
3,

29
5 

10
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 F
un

d 
M

at
ch

ed
 F

un
di

ng
 

0 
0 

0 
54

0 
0 

54
0 

11
 N

N
D

R
 

0 
10

0 
89

1 
1,

10
5 

2,
00

6 
12

 U
til

iti
es

 
0 

12
0 

0 
27

2 
1,

91
0 

2,
30

2 
13

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t G

ra
nt

s 
0 

-3
,1

47
 

0 
0 

-1
,9

75
 

-5
,1

22
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

3,
22

7 
2,

84
4 

-8
08

 
1,

70
3 

16
,3

30
 

23
,2

96
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Fi

xe
d 

co
st

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
14

 S
up

po
rt 

ch
ar

ge
s 

-7
,5

31
 

85
5 

-8
41

 
9,

39
4 

-4
,5

70
 

-2
,6

93
 

15
 C

ap
ita

l c
ha

rg
es

 
5,

73
7 

0 
14

5 
25

,6
13

 
14

,2
93

 
45

,7
88

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-1

,7
94

 
85

5 
-6

96
 

35
,0

07
 

9,
72

3 
43

,0
95

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

28



 

 25

 
Appendix B 

 
Commentary 
 
1. This commentary explains the changes shown in summary in Appendix C and 

in detail in Appendix D. 
 
2. The schedules show the changes that are proposed over the three years to 

31 March 2010. The issues outlined in 2008-09 and 2009-10 remain indicative 
as they may be affected by level of grants received from government in those 
years and any new legislative changes or policy changes. 

 
3. The items which were agreed at Cabinet on 3 August this year are indicated 

on the schedules. 
 
4. Appendix C shows the impact in each year of the changes as set out in the 

sheets and the cumulative impact on the Council Tax.  The calculations of the 
Council Tax are based on the provisional Council Tax base for 2007-08, being 
84,926, and growth of 0.25% in the taxbase thereafter.  The target collection 
rate is reducing from 99% to 98.5% in 2007-08 and 98% in 2008-09.  The final 
Council Tax base for 2007-2008 will be subject to approval by Cabinet in 
January 2007. 

 
Schools 
 
5. Since 2006-07 expenditure on schools has been ring-fenced and funded 

through a Dedicated Schools Grant. 
 
6. Details on the 2007-08 schools budget are attached at Appendix G. 
 
RSG/Grant Changes 
 
7. Last year a 2 year settlement was published for 2006-07 and 2007-08.  

Harrow’s grant increase for 2007-08 is 2.7%.  This is the minimum or “floor” 
increase.  From 2008-09 an annual increase of 2% has been assumed. 

 
Risks (Appendix D1) 
 
8. The draft budget includes a provision of £400k for the risk associated with the 

People First proposals that are currently subject to statutory consultation. 
 
Base Budget Changes (Appendix D2) 
 
9. The final tranche of savings (£25k) from phasing out the leased car scheme 

for staff is shown in 2007-08. 
 
10. A detailed review of the Council’s printing and photocopying arrangements 

has been conducted and this will generate significant savings.  However, the 

29



 

 26

savings are part of the BTP.  Therefore the corporate target is being reduced 
by £100k. 

 
11. There will be significant reductions in the income from land charges due to 

changes in the regulations (£500k). 
 
12. A small provision has been made for the annual cost of the production and 

distribution of the Council Tax leaflet (£20k).  This has never been separately 
identified before and is a statutory requirement. 

 
13. The planned savings from debt management that were built into the budget in 

2004-05 and 2005-06 are being reinstated (£185k).  Whilst debt management 
has improved considerably in the last 2 years, the benefits are reflected in 
improved cash flow and the associated investment income. 

 
14. A provision has been included for call charges (£300k).  The Council’s call 

charges have increased considerably in the last few years due to mobile 
phones, and this should be reflected in the budget. 

 
15. The remainder of the Corporate Procurement target is being removed from 

the budget as this has not been achieved and is double counting the BTP 
savings (£2m). 

 
16. The LPSA reward grant will cease from 2008-09 (£500k). 
 
17. The income target for the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme 

is being removed from the budget as there is a great deal of uncertainty about 
the likely income levels in future years (£300k). 

 
18. The Benefits Performance Fund grant ceases from 2007-08 (£100k). 
 
19. It is anticipated that the Planning Development Grant will cease or 

significantly reduce from 2007-08.  Therefore £280k has been provided in 
2007-08 and a further £250k in 2008-09. 

 
20. An additional £100k has been provided for levies and subscriptions over and 

above inflation, including the anticipated increase in the Environment Agency 
levy. 

 
21. The sum of £1m has been provided for contributions to reserves, due to their 

current very low level.  The additional amount will ensure reserves are greater 
than the agreed minimum level by the end of 2008-09. 

 
22. The planned saving from the review of capitalisation has not been achieved 

as the Council is already capitalising an appropriate amount of expenditure 
(£200k). 

 
23. An additional £200k has been provided for highways maintenance in each 

year to reinstate some of the recent reductions in the budget. 
 

30



 

 27

24. A debt restructuring exercise was carried out last year to reduce the average 
interest rate and improve the maturity profile of the Council’s long term 
borrowing.  This exercise will save a further £154k in 2007-08. 

 
25. The budget includes a provision for the capital financing costs consistent with 

the planned level of capital investment (reported separately on this agenda).  
This provision is £4m in 2007-08, £1.9m in 2008-09 and £1.8m in 2009-10. 

 
26. The planned saving on the insurance premium was not achieved last year 

(£150k).  Savings may be achieved when Harrow joins the new London 
Insurance Mutual but this is not yet certain. 

 
Basic Inflation – Pay and Pensions (Appendix D3) 
 
27. The pay award for 2007-08 has not yet been agreed but a provision of 2.75% 

has been made for 2007-08 and 3% thereafter. 
 
28. The triennial actuarial valuation of the Council’s pension fund resulted in an 

increase of 1.7% in employer’s contributions to the fund in 2005-06, 2006-07 
and 2007-08.  A similar increase is assumed for 2008-09 and 2009-10. 

 
Basic Inflation – Other Costs (Appendix D3) 
 
29. The budget for general running costs has been inflated using the CPI 

(Consolidated Price Index) which looks at a basket of price indicators, 
excluding mortgages and pay inflation.  This is currently around 2.4% 
(published figure for October 2006).  

 
Additional Inflation (Appendix D3) 
 
30. In addition to basic inflation, a number of budgets are forecast to require 

additional inflation for 2007-08 and beyond.  
 
31. An additional provision of £350,000 has been made for concessionary fares – 

this is in line with information from the ALG which suggests a 6.4% increase 
next year.  For 2008-09 and 2009-10 a provision of £300k has been made 
which equates to around 5%. 

 
32. An additional £230,000 has been provided for the West London Waste 

Authority Levy.  In 2007-08 it is likely that the WLWA will apply some of its 
balances to mitigate the increase from 16% to 8%.  However this will not be 
possible in subsequent years and therefore increases of £500k are 
anticipated in 2008-09 and 2009-10. 

 
33. Additional inflation of £400k each year has also been provided for gas and 

electricity bills which are forecast to increase by at least 10% on average. 

31



 

 28

 
Business Transformation Project (Appendix D4) 
 
34. In September 2005 the Cabinet approved a detailed report on the new 

Business Transformation Partnership (BTP).  The contract was renegotiated 
this year.  The budget reflects the expenditure and savings under the 
contract.  This is explained more fully in the body of the report. 

 
Directorate growth and efficiency savings (Appendices D5 – D9) 
 
35. Growth pressures and proposed efficiency savings in the draft MTBS are 

shown by Directorate in Appendices D5 to D9: 
 

•  D5 People First 
•  D6 Urban Living 
•  D7 Business Development 
•  D8 Chief Executive 
•  D9 Corporate items 
 

36. The corporate changes are as follows: 
 

•  £200,000 planned saving from a review of staff car parking arrangements 
and essential car user allowances 

•  £2.340m saving from a review of the management structure (which is 
already underway) 

 

32



 

 29

APPENDIX C 
MEDIUM TERM BUDGET STRATEGY 2007-08 to 2009-10    
     
  2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
    Budget Budget Budget
    £m £m £m
       
Budget Requirement Brought Forward   148.586 155.074 159.234
          
Amendments to prior year grants   -0.208     
Risks   0.400     
Base Budget Changes and Technical   9.256 2.850 2.000
Basic Inflation   5.925 6.250 6.400
Additional Inflation   0.980 1.200 1.200
Business Transformation Partnership   -1.470 -0.320 -0.662
People First   -0.593 0.630 0.159
Urban Living   -4.185 0.250 0.000
Business Development   -1.007 -0.025 -0.100
Chief Executive   -0.070 0.000 0.000
Corporate   -2.540 0.000 0.000
FUNDING GAP   0.000 -6.675 -7.520
          
Total Change in Budget Requirement   6.488 4.160 1.477
          
Revised Budget Requirement   155.074 159.234 160.711
          
Collection Fund Deficit   0.350 0.000 0.000
Formula Grant   -60.349 -61.556 -62.787
          
Amount to be raised from Council Tax   95.075 97.678 97.924
         
Council Tax at Band D  £   1,067.19  £   1,119.50  £   1,153.14   £    1,153.16 
          
Increase in Council Tax (%)               4.90              3.00               0.00  
          
     
     
     
Provisional Tax Base            84,926          84,706            84,918 
         
Assumed collection rate   98.50% 98% 98%

 

33



 

 30

 
APPENDIX D1 

Risks    
    
  2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
  £000 £000 £000
       
       
2006-07 Savings plan - 
Statutory consultation 

400     

       
       
       
       
Risks 400 0 0
        

 

34



 

 31

APPENDIX D2 
 

Base Budget Changes    
    
  2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
  £000 £000 £000 
Base Budget Changes       
        
Leased cars -25     
        
Print Room Savings 100     
        
Land Charges Income 500     
        
Council tax leaflet 20     
        
Reinstate debt management savings 185     
        
Call Charges 300     
        
Take out corporate procurement target 2,000     
        
Grant Changes       
        
LPSA Reward Grant   500   
        
LABGI 300     
        
Benefits Performance Fund 100     
        
Planning Development Grant 280 250   
        
Levies and subscriptions       
General increases 100     
        
Technical Changes       
        
Contribution to reserves 1,000     
        
Review of capitalisation 200     
        
Reinstate highways maintenance revenue budget 200 200 200 
        
Debt restructuring -154     
        
Capital Financing 4,000 1,900 1,800 
        
Insurance premium/provision 150     
        
Total Base Budget Changes 9,256 2,850 2,000 

 

35



 

 32

APPENDIX D3 
Basic & Additional Inflation    
    
  2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
  £000 £000 £000 
Basic Inflation       
        
Pay & pensions increase 3,500 3,800 3,900
        
Other inflation @ 2.4% 2,425 2,450 2,500
        
Total Basic Inflation 5,925 6,250 6,400
        
Additional Inflation       
        
Concessionary Fares 350 300 300
        
West Waste Levy 230 500 500
        
Gas & electricity 400 400 400
        
Total Additional Inflation 980 1,200 1,200
        

 

36



 

 33

APPENDIX D4 
Business Transformation Partnership   
    
  2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
  £000 £000 £000
Expenditure       
        
Contract and Harrow costs 587 1,188 -90
        
        
        
Sub Total 587 1,188 -90
        
Savings -2,057 -1,508 -572
        
        
Total BTP -1,470 -320 -662
        
    
    
    
Actual Savings Target -3,338 -4,846 -5,418

 
 

37



 

 34

 
 

APPENDIX D5 
 Directorate: People First     
      
Ref Proposal August 

savings 
plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

     £000 £000 £000 
          
 People First - Children's         
 Unavoidable Pressures        
1 SEN Transport   300 300 300 
2 Improve Silverdale Children's Home   250     
3 Reinstate budget for services for non 

funded Asylum Seekers aged 18+ 
  400     

4 Children's centres sustainability when 
grant ceases 

    900   

5 Cost of and demand for Children's 
Placements 

  970     

6 Legal Services External Barristers   200     
           
 Savings        
7 SEN Transport review provision and 

routes 
  -100 -100 -100 

8 Review existing placement provision 
where high unit costs and bring unit costs 
down by 5% pa 

  -250 -250   

9 Reduce Hospital Social Work Service and 
charge other Boroughs 

YES -50     

10 Reduce Education Welfare Service to 
statutory minimum 

  -75 -75   

11 Reduce Educational Psychologist 
provision 

  -45     

12 Cease to provide Homestart Grant   -52     
13 Cease being a provider of Youth Services 

and commission from other bodies 
  -50     

14 Achievement & Inclusion service to 
become self funded within 2 years. LA to 
only provide minimum 

  -350 -350   

15 Leaving Care Grant   -160     
16 Anticipated increase in Childrens Services 

Grant not ring fenced 
  -150     

           
 People First - Adults         
 Unavoidable Pressures        
17 Cost of and demand for social care 

placements & packages across all client 
groups 

  2,963 850   

18 Rebuild Bessborough Road   0 178   
19 Learning disability LIFT/PFI scheme   80 165 245 
20 HCSN Service Development   370 -105 -35 

38



 

 35

APPENDIX D5 
Ref Proposal August 

savings 
plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

     £000 £000 £000 
     
21 CNWL Infrastructure Costs   100     
22 Legal Services External Barristers   200   -200 
           
 Savings        
23 Reduce subsidy on home care YES -1,100     
24 Remove Joint Funded posts by transfer of 

staff to other vacancies 
YES -370     

25 Use 10% of Carers Grant to support base 
budget work 

YES -80     

26 Reduce subsidy on meals service  YES -350     
27 Merge Amner and Millmans Day Centres YES -141     
28 Restructuring Community Care inc OT 

equipment etc 
YES -150     

29 Apply hot meal charge for Day Centre 
catering 

  -60     

30 Drug Action Team Funding to cover LA 
Duties 

  0     

31 Temporary merger of Vaughan and 
Bentley Day Centres ahead of 
redevelopment of Vaughan Centre 

  -100 100   

32 Joint Commissioning Unit   -65     
33 Indicative price threshold on under 65 care 

packages LD 
  -800     

34 Implementation of Telecare   0 -250   
35 Cease contracts for preventative work   -400     
36 Introduce Self Assessment   -250 -750   
37 Increase Helpline charges to clients and 

Brent 
  -110     

38 Review wardens service   -40     
39 Use Access & Systems Grant to fund 

HCSN TUPE costs 
  -200     

           
 People First - Learning         
           
 Savings        
40 Eliminate Teachers Centre Subsidy YES -15     
41 Close Harrow Teachers' Centre Library YES -36     
42 Use LSC Grant for Adult Community and 

Family Learning 
YES -38     

43 Libraries - Redeploy resources from 
Lifelong Learning to employ Bookstart 
Coordinator 

YES -12     

44 Savings on Wellstoc Library stock 
purchases 

YES -21     

45 Remove security staffing budget for Bob 
Lawrence Library 

YES -4     

39



 

 36

APPENDIX D5 
Ref Proposal August 

savings 
plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

     
     
46 Reduce Library services printing/publicity YES -5     
47 Increase Library staff vacancy rate YES -9     
48 Wealdstone Centre Service Support 

Budget 
YES -20     

49 Deletion of Leisure and Admin post YES -10     
50 Cease Music Teaching Subsidy by 

increasing charges or reducing 
expenditure 

YES -50     

51 Cancel involvement in Community Sports 
Coaching Scheme 

YES -13     

52 Focus HYM grant on Harrow residents   -16     
53 Remove funding for Stepping Stones   -12     
54 Libraries - Closure of Gayton Rd Library 

during rebuild phase 
  -234 117 117 

55 Libraries - Reduce Bookstock fund   -40     
56 Libraries - review Sunday opening   -28     
57 Closure of Civic Library on move to Town 

Centre 
     -168 

58 Reduce extended schools funding   -100 -100   
59 Saving from in house arts provision   -75     
           
 People First - Strategy         
 Unavoidable Pressures        
60 Alexandra Lift Lease Costs   115     
61 Frameworki - ongoing revenue costs   300     
           
 Savings         
62 Capitalise Policy Officers working on 

capital projects 
YES -150     

63 Contracts Unit Efficiencies Frameworki 
Finance 

YES -100     

64 Grant Review - use catering and 14-19 
grant to offset salary costs 

YES -65     

65 Special Schools PFI - Affordability saving YES -170     
66 Increase SLA charges to schools from 

2007/2008  
  -30     

67 New SLAs with schools - Complaints, Data 
& Capital 

  -40     

68 Social Care IT Budget   -50     
           
 TOTAL   -593 630 159 

 

40



 

 37

 
APPENDIX D6 

 Directorate: Urban Living     

Ref Proposal 

August 
Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     £000 £000 £000
 ENVIRONMENT SERVICES        
1 Extension of existing  activities                     

(Parking Enforcement Services) 
YES -280     

2 Retaining vacancies                                    
(Community Safety Service) 

YES -129     

3 Reduction of one post: Senior Professional  
(Environmental Health Services) 

  -70     

4 3 further EHO posts to be held vacant          
(Environmental Health Services) 

  -130    

5 Reduction of out of hours noise service        
(Environmental Protection) 

  -30     

6 New back office system resulting in three 
posts being deleted                                       
(Parking Enforcement) 

  -50    

7 Reduction of one  enforcement officer          
(Trading Standards) 

  -40    

8 Reduction of one technical officer                 
(Environment Protection) 

  -27    

9 Join together Licensing and Highways 
team                                                     
(Environmental Protection) 

  -60    

10 Gambling legislation fee income                  
(Licensing) 

  -50    

11 Peel House Car Park Wealdstone reduce 
opening hours to 8.30pm 

YES -20     

12 Reduction of one Senior Manager post        
(Public Realm Infrastructure) 

  -66    

13 Reduction of road safety team from  four 
into two staff                                                  
(Public Realm Infrastructure) 

  -56    

14 Reduction of three posts in Engineering 
section                                                          
(Public Realm Infrastructure) 

  -114    

15 Reduction of one Traffic Engineer post         
(Public Realm Infrastructure) 

  -43    

16 Reduction of one business support post       
(Public Realm Infrastructure) 

  -25    

17 Public Realm maintenance - Revise 
management structure 

YES -100     

18 Public Realm maintenance - review of 
working arrangements 

YES -200     

19 Increase Exclusive Rights of Burial, 
Interment & Memorial Rights Fee 

YES -36     

20 Recycling Income YES -70     

41



 

 38

APPENDIX D6 

Ref Proposal 

August 
Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     
£000 £000 £000

21 Public Realm maintenance - Removal of 
Flower bedding 

YES -50     

22 Public realm maintenance - create 
'wilderness' areas in some parks 

YES -30     

23 Introduce charges for the provision of 
additional boxes; increase charges for 
provision of additional bins; restrict free 
replacement bins                                 
(Waste Management) 

  -40    

24 Introduce charges for the collection of re-
cyclabe waste from commercial premises 
and schools                                                 
(Waste Management) 

  -80    

25 Increase charges for the disposal of trade 
waste at the Civic Amenity site to reflect 
increases in Landfill tax and LATS                
(Waste Management) 

  -25    

26 Increase trade waste collection charges to 
reflect increases in Landfill tax and LATS     
(Waste Management) 

  -200    

27 Increase parks and sports lets prices to 
recover full costs                                           
(Public Realm Maintenance) 

  -40    

28 Increase schools SLA charges for grounds 
maintenance                                                 
(Public Realm Maintenance) 

  -30    

29 Increase housing SLA charges for grounds 
maintenance                                                 
(Public Realm Maintenance) 

  -38    

30 Increase burial charges                                 
(Public Realm Maintenance) 

  -7    

31 Reduction of arboricultural work to cover 
emergencies only                                          
(Public Realm Maintenance) 

  -100    

32 Closure of re-cycling unit. Three re-cycling 
officer posts                                                   
(Public Realm Services)  

  -90    

33 Revise management structure, deletion of 
ten management posts                      
(Public Realm Services) 

  -200    

 PROPERTY SERVICES       
34 Withdraw from Town Centre Management 

initiative                                                    
(Strategic Planning) 

YES -75     

35 Increase income -building control charges, 
pre-planning advice, S106 admin etc            
(Planning Services) 

YES -115     

42



 

 39

APPENDIX D6 

Ref Proposal 

August 
Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     

£000 £000 £000

36 Stop indemnity insurance cover provided 
for  surveyors                                      
(Building Control) 

YES -17     

37 Reduce agency staff in Development 
Control and Policy & Research                     
(Planning Services) 

YES -90     

38 Reduce contract & permanent staff within 
conservation & design                                   
(Planning Services) 

YES -130     

39 Reduction in agency staffing in 
Development Control - Major Team              
(Planning Services) 

  -70     

40 Reduction of one post in the Landscape 
section                                             
(Planning Services) 

  -55     

41 Reduction of three posts in Forward 
Planning / Conservation and Design             
(Planning Services) 

  -101     

42 Energy Conservation Officer - Capital 
funding of salary                                  
(Property Services) 

YES -40     

43 Capitalise Design & Build costs                    
(Property Services) 

YES -100     

44 Sell advertising wherever possible                
(Property Services) 

YES -30     

45 Partial capitalisation of one SM post             
(Property Services) 

  -30     

46 Partial capitalisation of one post, Energy 
Assistant                                             
(Property Services) 

  -10     

47 Partial capitalisation of one post, Contract 
Support Officer                                             
(Property Services) 

  -10     

48 Deletion of one post, Security                       
(Property Services) 

  -35     

49 Deletion of one post,  Facilities Officer         
(Property Services) 

  -36     

50 Deletion of Corporate Maintenance 
Support Officer                                            
(Property Services) 

  -21     

51 Partial capitalisation of the Discretionary 
Grants Services within HART team              
(Property Services) 

  -50     

52 Cancellation of lease - Premier House         
(Property Services) 

  -88     

43



 

 40

APPENDIX D6 

Ref Proposal 

August 
Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     
£000 £000 £000

53 Cancellation of lease - Talbot House            
(Property Services) 

  -70     

54 Retaining vacant posts within Housing 
Services                                               
(Housing Services) 

YES -41     

55 Reallocation of costs to ensure 
homelessness, housing provision and 
strategy costs that are currently in GF are 
charged to HRA, this needs to be 
undertaken in accordance with government 
guidelines for expenditure from HRA . 

  -320     

 STRATEGY & BUSINESS SUPPORT        
56 Review of Civic Centre and Depot                

Catering & MOW - vacant posts   
YES -45     

57 Special Needs Transport-Review of 
overtime claims & agency staffing hours 

YES -50     

58 Rationalisation of business support staff 
across Urban Living 

YES -50     

59 Reduction of one post                                   
(Communications and Stakeholder liaison)

  -30     

 OTHER         
60 Street lighting PFI - professional fees   50 250 0
         
 TOTAL   -4,185 250 0

 

44



 

 41

APPENIDX D7 
 Business Development     
      
Ref Proposal August 

Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     £000 £000 £000 
 NEW PRESSURES       
1 Local Area Agreement   50 50 -100
           
 FULL YEAR EFFECT OF 2006-07 

SAVINGS PLAN 
        

2 Review function and structure of 
procurement team 

YES -100     

3 Focus clothing grants on real need YES -170     
4 Amend Trade Union Facilities budget to 

bring Harrow's costs into line with other 
boroughs 

YES -60     

5 Capitalise 75% of BTP Director and on-costs YES -90     

6 Use internal post in HRES/ cut down 
external mailing 

YES -10     

          
 NEW SAVINGS        
 People, Performance and Policy        
7 PPP - vacancy management   -90     
8 Inspection fees   -20     
          
 Financial and Business Strategy        
9 Grants to voluntary groups - cut by 10%   -90     
10 FBS - Freeze Auditor Post   -35     
11 FBS - Reduce business engagement activity   -50     

          
 Business Services        
12 Restructure of Revenues Service to improve 

collection performance (funded by additional 
income below) 

  90 70 70

13 Income to fund restructure of revenues 
service 

  -90 -70 -70

14 Review Cash collection function   -75 -75   
15 Introduce charges for payment by credit card   -100     

16 Student Finance team   -28     
17 Transfer admin of free school meals to 

schools 
  -14     

   
 
 
 
 

       

45



 

 42

APPENDIX D7 
Ref Proposal August 

Savings 
Plan 

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

     £000 £000 £000 

     

 Business Transformation Partnership 
(inc HITS) 

       

18 HITS - Admin Post   -20     
19 HITS - SAP Training Posts   -55     
20 HITS - Helpdesk Team   -50     
           
 Total   -1,007 -25 -100
      
      

 

46



 

 43

 
APPENDIX D8 

 Chief Executive     
      

Ref 
  August 

Savings plan
2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

     £000 £000 £000 
         

 
FULL YEAR EFFECT OF 
2006-07 SAVINGS PLAN 

      

1 Events YES 20     
2 Council and public meetings YES 30     
3 Prosperity Action Teams YES 5     
4 Reduce canvassing for 

Electoral roll/merge with C 
Tax 

YES -20     

5 Reduce legal support to 
committees 

YES -45     

6 Reduce democratic services 
support 

YES -45     

7 Registrar income/photography YES -10     

8 Reduce legal support to 
schools/charge for remainder 

YES -10     

          
 New Pressures        

9 Communications Team   35     
10 Increase staff by 1 x FTE to 

add Litigation Officer to deal 
with Revenues instigated 
Insolvency work and build 
capacity to conduct corporate 
debt recovery work 

  45     

          
 NEW SAVINGS        

11 
Review support to Mayor and 
Members 

  -75     

           
 Total   -70 0 0 

 

47



 

 44

APPENDIX D9 
 

Corporate    
    
  2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
  £000 £000 £000
        
        
       
Parking and Essential Car users -200     
       
Review of management structure -2,340     
        
Total -2,540 0 0

 

48



 

 45

 
 

Appendix G 
 

School Budget 2007-08  
 

1. Background 
 

1.1 The Government introduced multi year budgets to schools in the form of 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) from April 2006. 2007-08 is the second 
year in the initial two-year multi year budget cycle.  2008-09 will see the 
commencement of a three-year budget cycle to fit in line with the 
Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review cycle (CSR).  

 
1.2 The final DSG settlement, published in June 2006, was £119.052m, which 

was slightly above the estimated figure of £118.560m used to set the 
schools budget. Schools Forum will be consulted upon how the 
additional monies of £0.448m should be applied.  However an element 
of the funding will apply to the central items and an element will apply to 
the individual schools budget. These funds will be carried forward to the 
2007-08 budgets along with any other under/over spends on the DSG 
from 2006-07.  

 
1.3 DSG is used to fund both the individual schools budget (ISB) and centrally 

retained items. The former goes to individual schools, whilst the latter is 
held back by the Local Authority to spend on specific items such as 
Early Years (private and voluntary sector nurseries) and fees for out of 
borough pupils at independent special schools. 

 
2. 2007-08 Settlement 

 
2.1 Using the pupil count figures from the 2006 Jan Plasc (pupil led annual 

schools count), it is estimated that Harrow will receive £126.691m for 
the 2007-08 DSG. This would be an increase of 6.8% over the 2006-07 
final schools’ budget. However, the 2007 Jan Plasc figures will be used 
in preparing the 2007-08 school budgets, and if different from 2006 Jan 
Plasc will change the overall grant received.  The value per pupil of DSG 
for 2007-08 has already been set by the Government and is a 6.8% per 
pupil increase over 2006-07. 

 
2.2 The Government will also continue to allocate monies in 2007-08 

(included within the overall DSG) to local authorities, as was the case in 
2006-07, to deliver key reforms such as greater personalisation of 
learning at Key Stage 3 and in primary schools and support for more 
practical learning options for pupils aged 14-16.  The Government has 
delayed the move to increase the entitlement to free early years provision 
from 33 weeks to 38 weeks till 2010.  

 
2.3 Schools will continue to receive the Minimum Funding Guarantee in 

2007-08, at a rate of 3.7% for all schools. 

49



 

 46

 
 
3. Next Steps 

 
3.1 Schools Forum considered the formula factors and data, which were 

needed to be updated for 2006-07 and 2007-08 last year in line with DfES’ 
requirements, and it is not expected that there will be any major changes 
this year. Schools Forum will be consulted upon final allocations of the 
headroom in December 2006 / January 2007. There are a number of 
issues which they need to explore, including the school specific 
contingency budget, which has been under significant pressure this year. 
The final schools budget for 2007-08 will be set by Cabinet in February. 

 
3.2 The Jan 07 pupil count will differ from the pupil projections used in the 

estimates provided here and will change the allocations, as will any data 
changes in the formula factors. A final budget, based on the known Jan 
pupil Plasc numbers will be given to schools before 31 March 2007 
(although the grant is not expected to be finalised till May 2007). 

 
 

50



 

 47

 
 
 

Appendix M 
 
Glossary 
 
Audit Commission 
 
The national body responsible for ensuring effective audit and inspection of 
Councils and other public bodies. 
 
Balances 
 
See reserves below. 
 
Base Budget 
 
The Council’s main budget for the year, taking into account pressures, savings 
and funding.  This is also used as the basis for future years’ budgets, updated for 
inflation, new pressures, savings etc. 
 
Budget Review Working Group 
 
A cross party group of members set up to consider in detail budget and financial 
issues affecting the Council. 
 
Business Rates 
 
See NNDR below. 
 
Business Transformation Partnership 
 
The Council has entered into a long term contract with Capita.  Initially the 
contract will deliver a new contact centre, new  systems and improved 
management information. 
 
Capital 
 
Spend on creating or enhancing assets such as roads, buildings and computer 
systems which is one-off and can be classified as an investment. 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
 
The Council’s officer designated as carrying the statutory financial role under 
section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  This is currently the Director of 
Financial and Business Strategy (Business Connections) 
 
Collection Fund 
 

51



 

 48

A separate account which the Council is required to keep to monitor income from 
Council Tax and National Non Domestic Rates. 
 
Council Tax 
 
A tax based upon the value of a property which helps to support the council’s 
general budget. 
 
Council Tax Bands 
 
A series of Bands (from A – H) based upon the value of a property which 
determines how much tax will be levied on each property. 
 
Council Taxbase 
 
The total number of properties in the Borough subject to Council Tax translated 
to their equivalent at Band D.  This is required so that central government can 
compare the tax burden on each area of the country. 
 
CPA (Comprehensive Performance Assessment) 
 
The Audit Commission’s Assessment of how well each Council is performing in a 
wide range of areas. 
 
CPI (Consolidated Price Index) 
 
The measure of inflation used by government which excludes pay and 
mortgages. 
 
Demography 
 
The changes in numbers of the population and the make up of those numbers by 
either age range, ethnicity or location. 
 
External Auditor 
 
The organisation charged with ensuring that the Council’s accounts, budgets and 
finances comply with legislation and are true and accurate records.  For the 
Council this is currently Deloitte & Touche. 
 
Growth 
 
Increased expenditure required to meet service expectations from changes to 
policy, legislation, demand etc. 
 
HMO 
 
Houses in multiple occupation 

52



 

 49

 
HRA (Housing Revenue Account) 
 
A separate account which must be kept by the Council to track income and 
expenditure relating to its stock of council houses. 
 
Local Area Agreement 
 
An agreement between the Harrow Strategic Partnership and central 
government. 
 
Medium Term Budget Strategy 
 
The Council’s plans for how it intends to form its budget in support of its 
objectives over the following 3 years. 
 
NNDR (National Non-Domestic Rates) 
 
Also called Business Rates.  A rate charged on all businesses operating in the 
Council’s area.  It is calculated by applying a national figure to the rateable value 
of each business in the Borough.  It is collected by the Council and paid to 
central government, who then redistribute it based on the Council’s population. 
 
PCT 
 
Primary Care Trust 
 
PFI (Private Finance Initiative) 
 
A means whereby the Council enters into a partnership with a private provider to 
enable capital developments to be undertaken which the Council could not of 
itself afford and which generates value for money.  
 
Procurement 
 
The ways a council buys in goods and services. 
 
Provisional Finance Settlement 
 
The government’s annual announcement of how much financial support each 
Council will receive in the following year.  The final settlement is usually 
announced some 2 months after this, once the government has all the data it 
requires. 
 
Repricing 
 
The updating of a base budget to reflect inflation and more accurate costings of 
pressures and savings. 
 

53



 

 50

Reserves 
 
Also called balances.  Money held by the Council to cover emergencies and 
unforeseen expenditure which may occur in the year. 
 
Revenue 
 
Spend on day top day running expenses of the Council. 
 
RPI (Retail Price Index) 
 
The measure of inflation used by government which includes pay and mortgages. 
 
RSG (Revenue Support Grant) 
 
The main grant which central government provides to support overall council 
expenditure.  This grant can be spent on any services the council wishes. 
 
SEN (Special Educational Needs) 
 
Pupils who have educational requirements in excess of standard educational 
provision 
 
Specific Grants 
 
Additional grant funding from central government in excess of the Revenue 
Support Grant.  These grants are paid for specific purposes and the Council 
needs to spend the grant for the purposes detailed by central government. 
 

54



  
Meeting: Education Consultative Forum 
Date: 30 January 2007 
Subject: School Term Dates 2008-09 
Key Decision: 
(Executive-side only) 

No 

Responsible Officer: Geoff Wingrove, Director of Strategic Services 
Department, People First 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Janet Mote: Portfolio Holder for People First   
Exempt: No 
Enclosures: None 
 
 
 
SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
SUMMARY 
This report presents a proposal for school term dates for 2008-09 in line with the 
model provided by the Local Government Association (LGA).    
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
The Forum to recommend to the Portfolio Holder the adoption of the school term 
dates for Harrow for 2008-09 as set out in Appendix 1.   
 
REASON: 
To fulfil the council’s requirement to determine the school term dates for 2008-09.
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 55 to 58

55



SECTION 2 - REPORT 
 
2.1 Brief Background 

 
The Education Consultative Forum annually agrees the term dates for each 
school year.   
 
The Forum at its last meeting on 21 September 2006 agreed to consider the 
Local Government Association (LGA) model of school term dates for 
2008/09, provided this was in line with the Harrow agreed principles, in 
order to achieve consistency with neighbouring boroughs.  
 

2.2 Options considered 
 
No other options considered. 
 

2.3 Option recommended and reasons for recommendation 
 
The only option recommended is based on the LGA model as presented in 
Appendix 1.  This model is recommended as it meets the Harrow agreed 
principles and facilitates consistency with neighbouring boroughs.  
 

2.4 Resources, costs and risks associated with recommendation 
 
Not applicable to this report. 
 

2.5 Staffing / workforce consideration 
 
Not applicable to this report. 
 

2.6 Equalities Impact consideration 
 
The Harrow agreed principles were developed following consultation with 
schools, governors, parents and other partners and takes account of the 
needs of Harrow’s diverse community.   
 
Harrow sets term dates of 195 school days each year and 
schools/governing bodies have the flexibility to set the 190 pupil contact 
days within this framework to meet the needs of each school’s community.     
 

2.7 Current KPI’s and Likely impact of decision on KPI’s 
 
Not applicable to this report. 
 

2.8 Legal Implications 
 
Section 32 of the Education Act 2002 obliges the Local Authority to 
determine the dates when school terms and holidays are to begin and end 
and the times of the school sessions for all community schools.  For 
voluntary aided schools the responsibility rests with the Governing Body.  
 

56



2.9 Financial Implications 
 
None. 
 

2.10 Community Safety (s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998) 
 
Not applicable to this report. 
 
 

SECTION 3 - STATUTORY OFFICER CLEARANCE 
 
   
Chief Finance Officer Name:…Paula Foulds……………. 
    

Date: …09/01/07 ……………….. 
   
Monitoring Officer Name: …Helen White…………… 
   

Date: ….16/01/07 ……………….. 
 
 
 
SECTION 4 - CONTACT DETAILS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
Contact:   Geraldine Sparrow, Group Manager – Client Support Services 
  Tel:   020 8424 7658 
  e-mail:  geraldine.sparrow@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:   None 
 
 
 
 
 
IF APPROPRIATE, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
 
1. Consultation  NO 

2. Corporate Priorities  NO  

3. Manifesto Pledge Reference Number N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57



 
Appendix 1 

 
 
 

PROPOSED HARROW SCHOOL TERM DATES 2008/09 
          
 

Terms Harrow School Term Dates 2008/09 
 
Autumn 2008 
 

 
*Monday 1 September  – Friday 24 October              (40 days)    
 
H/T 27 – 31 October (5 days) 
 
Monday 3 November  – Friday 19 December             (35 days) 

 
Spring 2009 
 

 
Monday 5 January – Friday 13 February                    (30 days) 
 
H/T 16 – 20 February (5 days) 
 
Monday 23 February – Friday 3 April                          (30 days)  

 
Summer 2009 
 

 
Monday 20 April – Friday 22 May                                (24 days) 
 
H/T 25 – 29 May  (BH + 4 days) 
 
Monday 1 June – *Monday 20 July                              (36 days) 

Total                                                                                       195 days 
 
 
* These start and finish dates could be varied by a day or two. 

 
Bank Holidays 2008/09: 
 
Monday 25 August 2008 
Thursday 25 December 2008 
Friday 26 December 2008  
Thursday 1 January 2009 
Friday 10 April 2009 
Monday 13 April 2009  
Monday 4 May 2009 
Monday 25 May 2009 
 
Harrow Agreed Principles: 
 
•  The school year to be set with 195 days, incorporating 5 development days  
•  Schools to determine the 5 development days 
•  The school year to start on the first useful day in September 
•  The October break to be one full week, the last full week in October 
•  A 10 school day break at Christmas  
•  A 10 school day break at spring/Easter  
•  A one week break in February and May/June 
•  A summer break of 5-6 weeks (not more than 6 weeks) 

58


	Agenda
	10 Draft Budget for Consultation
	Briefing on the Draft Budget 2007-08
	Revenue budget report EdCF 17 Jan_1

	11 School Term Dates 2008-09

